
Civic Centre, Windmill Street, Gravesend Kent DA12 1AU 

 
 

 
 

Operational Services 
Cabinet Committee 

 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
Members of the Operational Services Cabinet Committee of Gravesham Borough Council are 
summoned to attend a meeting to be held at the Council Chamber, Civic Centre, Windmill Street, 
Gravesend DA12 1AU on Wednesday, 22 March 2023 at 7.30 pm when the business specified in 
the following agenda is proposed to be transacted. 
 
 

 
S Walsh 
Service Manager (Communities) 
 
 

Agenda 
 

Part A 
 

Items likely to be considered in Public 

1. Apologies for Absence   

2. Minutes  (Pages 3 - 8) 

3. Declarations of Interest   

4. To consider whether any items in Part A of the Agenda should be 
considered in private or any items in Part B in public  

 

5. Annual Review of the Licensing Shared Service  (Pages 9 - 18) 

6. Air Quality Annual Status Report  (Pages 19 - 24) 

7. Corporate Performance Update: Quarter Three 2022-23  (Pages 25 - 34) 

8. Any other business which by reason of special circumstances the Chair is 
of the opinion should be considered as a matter or urgency.  

 

9. Exclusion   



 To move, if required, that pursuant to Section 100A (4) of the Local 
Government Act 1972 that the public be excluded from any items 
included in Part B of the agenda because it is likely in view of the nature 
of the business to be transacted that if members of the public are present 
during those items, there would be disclosure to them of exempt 
information as defined in Part 1 of Schedule 12A of the Act. 
 

Part B  
 

Items likely to be considered in private  
 

None. 

 

 
 
 
Members 
 
Cllr Lee Croxton (Chair) 
Cllr Gurbax Singh (Vice-Chair) 
 
Councillors: Conrad Broadley 

Gurdip Ram Bungar 
Nirmal Khabra 
Leslie Pearton 
Alan Ridgers 
Brian Sangha 
Frank Wardle 
 

 
Substitutes: To be notified 
 
 
 
 



1 

Operational Services Cabinet Committee 
 

Tuesday, 7 February 2023 7.30 pm 
 
 

Present: 
 
Cllr Lee Croxton (Chair) 
Cllr Gurbax Singh (Vice-Chair) 
 
Councillors: Conrad Broadley 

Gurdip Ram Bungar 
Gary Harding 
Nirmal Khabra 
Leslie Pearton 
Alan Ridgers 
Brian Sangha 
Frank Wardle 

  
 
Stuart Alford 
Joel Simons 
James Young 
Karen Gingles 

Assistant Director (Operations) 
Waste Projects & Compliance Officer 
Parks and Open Spaces Manager 
Committee Services Officer (Minutes) 

 
 

16. Apologies for Absence  
 
No apologies for absence were received. 
 

17. Minutes  
 
The minutes of the meeting held on Thursday, 24 November 2022 were signed by the Chair. 
 

18. Declarations of Interest  
 
There we no declarations of interest 
 

19. Parks & Open Space 2022 Annual Report  
 
The Committee were presented with the Parks and Open Spaces Annual Report (January – 
December 2022), which could be found on page 9 of the agenda pack.  The purpose of this 
report was to inform Members of the achievements and activities over the last year.  The 
Parks and Open Spaces Manager highlighted key areas of the report which included: 
 

 Work carried out throughout the borough to regenerate 15 play parks, that were 
identified as requiring attention and investment.  It was noted that some parks had 
not been updated for 20 years.  The development of the chosen sites were possible 
due to a successful grant funding bid.  This injection of funds had accelerated the 
regeneration plans and meant the project was completed within months rather than 
years.  Members were given an overview of the work carried out at each of the 15 

Page 3 Agenda Item 2



Operational Services Cabinet Committee 7.02.2023 

2 

play parks. Improvements varied at each site but included themed play areas, 
accessibility for all ages and abilities with inclusive play and sensory equipment. 

 

 The Parks and Open Spaces Manager updated the Committee on Gravesham’s tree 
planting efforts over the past year, as part of the Council’s drive to deliver a greener 
Gravesham.  Gravesham had planted 20 trees across the borough for the Queen’s 
Jubilee plus 250 native whips to create The Forest of Memories in Instead Rise, to 
remember those who had died during the Covid19 pandemic.  Members were 
advised that unfortunately due to the drought in 2022, a number of whips had died 
but would be replaced. 
 

 Following devastation caused by Storm Eunice along the Gordon Promenade, a 
review of the location had been carried out and in order to promote the biodiversity of 
the area and to enhance the annual colour, there would be mixed perennial flower 
beds created.  This option would also prove more cost effective. 
 

 Members were informed about the dedication of the Windmill Hill Association to 
promote the natural habitat through the Buzz Garden.  The Parks and Open Spaces 
Manager also advised that to promote habitats for wildlife 20 bat, bird and owl boxes 
had been installed in various locations throughout the borough. 
 

 The Committee were informed of the Mindful Moment benches that had been 
installed throughout the borough.   It was hoped that especially during the current 
economic climate, these benches would offer a place to reflect.  Individuals could be 
signposted for help and support via a QR code on the plaque. 
 

 The Parks and Open Spaces Manager informed Members of the Growing Your 
Community scheme that was introduced this year.  This saw the introduction of 
raised beds to involve the community in creating and maintaining herb and vegetable 
plots, which had so far been a success. 
 

The Parks and Open Spaces Manager outlined the aspirations for 2023. 
 
The Chair thanked the Parks and Open Spaces Manager and team for everything that had 
been achieved in the past year. 
 
The Committee were invited to ask questions and make comment. 
 
Members raised concern about future maintenance of the parks and how often they would 
be checked.  The Parks and Open Spaces Manager advised that there were 47 parks within 
Gravesham to maintain and 2 full time park rangers.  He informed Members that there are 
routine, operational and annual checks to ensure the equipment met safety standards and to 
remove any graffiti.  The Committee were updated with a plan to introduce Friends of 
Gravesham, which would offer residents the opportunity to adopt a local park, volunteer with 
tasks such as litter picking and flowerbed maintenance.  Members were advised this was in 
the early stage of development, but it was a positive way to bring together the community 
and create a working partnership.  This partnership could also be method to communicate 
feedback any issues within the parks to ensure they stay well maintained.   
 
The Committee noted that within the report reference was made to the public’s perception of 
the projects being great and well received, but wondered what evidence there was to back 
up these statements.  The Parks and Open Spaces Manager advised that comments were 

Page 4



Operational Services Cabinet Committee 7.02.2023 

3 

collated from social media and from speaking to the community in the parks.  He went on to 
say that software was being trialled to look at play park usage such as chosen activities and 
how long visitors stayed for.  This data would offer a valuable insight and a learning tool to 
see where investment has been of benefit.  The software could also provide data since 
2019.  Members requested that if this software were to be utilised, the Committee would 
appreciate the data being presented at the Committee meetings going forward. 
 
Members referred to the future aspirations for 2023 and asked in relation to funding for 
parks, how the horticultural team would request financing from Planning Section 106 funds.  
The Park and Open Spaces Manager informed the Committee that due to the close working 
relationship with the Planning department there was as understanding that money from 
Section 106 funding could be used for this purpose.  The Assistant Director (Operations) 
added that large housing developments often included a play park that was maintained by a 
management company.  He advised that provision was in place to ensure the sites were 
properly maintained by outside companies. 
 
Members asked if volunteers of the Friends of Gravesham volunteer scheme would have a 
police DBS check as part of the risk assessment.  The Parks and Open Spaces Manager 
advised that the volunteers would be predominantly for the open space areas rather than the 
play parks, but this would be taken into consideration. 
 
The Committee asked if there would be a cost implication in replacing the trees in The 
Forest of Memories that died during the summer drought.  Reassurance was given that there 
was no additional cost, as the replacement trees were a donation.  The new trees would be 
a more robust larger species, would be surrounded by chestnut fencing and have a more 
robust watering schedule. 
 
The Chair thanked the Parks and Opens Spaces Manager and team for the improvements 
and raising horticulture to a greater standard within the borough.  He went on to say that the 
regeneration of parks gave a huge amount to the community and improved the quality of life 
for residents. 
 
The Committee noted the report. 
 
 

20. Waste Management Update Report  
 
The Committee were presented with the Waste Management Update Report.  The purpose 
of this report was to provide Members with an update on Waste Management & Street 
Cleansing projects & performance in the 2022 calendar year.   
 
The Waste Projects and Compliance Officer highlighted key areas of the report which 
included: 
 

 In November 2022 the Council’s Recycling, Refuse & Street Cleansing frontline staff 
were provided with a new orange uniform. The new uniform has made the staff within 
these services look smarter, as well as more visible on dark mornings.  Feedback 
from staff had been positive. 
 

 Members attention was drawn to p.35 section 3.1 which gave an overview of the 
recycling performance for 2022.  It was highlighted that if 2022 was compared to 
2020/21 then there had been a slight drop in recycling, however if compared to the 

Page 5



Operational Services Cabinet Committee 7.02.2023 

4 

pre-pandemic year of 2019 then this year had seen a rise in recycling of 4%.  It was 
noted that during 2020/21 there was a higher amount of recycling due to the increase 
of online ordering during the lock down periods. 
 
The Committee were informed that in relation to food waste recycling, 2022 had seen 
a 19% decline.  This drop was however consistent with the rest of Kent.  The Waste 
Projects and Compliance officer stated that with the current economic climate, this 
could have been due to residents not wasting food and a reduction in consumption 
levels.   
 

 The Waste and Projects Compliance Officer explained how contamination of waste in 
2022 had improved slightly.  He advised Members that since January 2023 KCC has 
become more stringent with the waste they would accept and rejected 65 tonnes of 
recycling due to contamination, this in turn was a cost to the Council.  In order to 
mitigate this going forward, the crew had undertaken further training and were 
required to put red stickers on contaminated resident bins, that must be rejected due 
to contamination. There had also been an education campaign for residents. 
 

 Fly tipping incidents had fallen in 2022 by 8.9%.  Waste management and the 
Environment Enforcement team continued to work closely to combat the issue. It was 
noted that 2022 had seen a reduction in tonnage of 12.7%. 

 

 Members attention was drawn to section 3.4 of the report.  The Kent Resource 
Partnership (KRP) organised residual waste (black sack waste) audits to be 
conducted in May 2022 in all Kent districts. The findings from the audit revealed that 
in Gravesham, 2.8 kilograms of waste per household per week could have been 
recycled at the kerbside. 

 

 Gravesham had continued to increase the number of flats that were offered a 
recycling service. 

 

 The Street Champions initiative was awarded a Certificate of Excellence by IESE in 
January 2022 and Gravesham Borough Councils’ Waste Management Team were 
also shortlisted for two awards in the ‘Local Authority Success’ Category at the 
National Recycling Awards 2022 

 

 Members we informed that in 2022 the team had undertaken a one off project to 
clear alleyways which had become overgrown/suffered from fly-tipping, whether the 
alleys were privately- or council owned.   
 

The Waste and Projects Compliance Officer informed the Committee of the future projects 
for 2023 in section 5 of the report.  These included: 
 

 To review the current vehicle fleet to identify options to introduce alternative-fuelled 
vehicles and thereby reduce carbon emissions. 

 Continue to communicate with residents about the changes to bank holiday waste 
collections from 2023, which meant there would be no change to the normal 
collection day over bank holiday periods (apart from Christmas). 

 Continuing to focus on recycling contamination & participation.  

 Continue to work with schools on environmental projects. 

 Re-launching kerbside battery collections. 

Page 6



Operational Services Cabinet Committee 7.02.2023 

5 

 Looking for funding opportunities to install small electrical collection points at 
recycling points across the borough, so that residents could easily recycle small 
electrical items like kettles and toasters. 

 Introducing Business Champions.  This would be a similar scheme to the successful 
Street Champions and would enable shopkeepers to keep the road & pavement 
outside their business clean & tidy between daily visits by Street Cleansing 
Operatives. 

 
The Committee were invited to ask questions and make comment. 
 
Members sought clarification regarding excess waste outlined in section 3.2 of the report.  It 
was noted that the report expressed that whilst in 2022 there was a 95.3% reduction in 
instances of residents putting out excess black sacks and there was a 4.4% reduction in 
household waste collected in 2022 compared to a 5.9% increase the previous year.  It was 
felt that this reduction of 4.4% should be expressed in a positive way to express to the 
resident that they were doing well, but this could be improved.  The Waste and Projects 
Compliance Officer advised 4.4% decrease was still an improvement compared to a 5.9% 
increase in 2021. 
 
The Committee queried the method of recycling in bags as a number of supermarket did not 
stock clear bags and so some residents may use alternative bags to store their recycling,  
the Assistant Director (Operations) advised if the resident had a recycling bin, the 
recommended method would be to put the recycling into the bin loose, so it was clear for the 
operative to see if the bin was contaminated.  He also advised Members that there would be 
videos produced to communicate to residents the process waste undertook, once collected. 
 
Members questioned what the difference was by Gravesham disposing of contaminated 
waste rather than it being taken directly to the KCC Recycling Centre by the resident.  The 
Director (Operations) confirmed that the recycling centre would undertake stringent checks 
to ensure the waste was disposed of correctly. 
 
The Committee commended the idea to re-introduce battery recycling and wondered if there 
was scope to offer boxes for collection at schools, local shops and the Gurdwara, which had 
a large footfall.  The Waste and Projects Compliance Officer informed Members that large 
retailers which sold over a set threshold of batteries, must provide a return point for 
recycling.  He advised that recycling schemes were open to outside organisations, so this 
could be investigated.  The recycling boxes were easy for an organisation to manage as they 
are marked with a returns telephone number, so once full the organisation could arrange 
collection.  The Assistant Director (Operations) would also make contact with Parish 
Councils to encourage this approach. 
 
Member raised concern regarding the appearance of the proposed electrical recycling 
points.  The Waste and Projects Compliance Officer advised that the photo within the report 
was only an example and the colour of the unit could be changed.  He went on to inform the 
Committee that the electrical collection points would be placed in existing recycling spots, so 
would not be out of place.  This scheme had been adopted by other Councils in the UK but 
not in Kent yet.  After further discussion Members were informed that the collection point 
could accept any small electrical item that could fit through the 30cm by 40cm slot. 
 
Clarification was sought as to why the Street Champions only had orange bags for litter 
picking and not clear for recycling, especially when the majority of litter dropped was 

Page 7



Operational Services Cabinet Committee 7.02.2023 

6 

recyclable.  Members were advised that Street Champions received both types of bags, to 
enable recycling. 
 
Members asked if the recycling collection could include the collection of glass, as disposing 
of glass was not easy for residents that were unable to drive.  The Assistant Director 
(Operations) alluded that the service may be provided in the future.   
 
The Committee commended the fly tipping enforcement response but queried if the Council 
used cameras to assist with combating the issue.  The Assistant Director (Operations) 
informed Members that cameras were used to catch culprits in certain areas and footage 
could be used in prosecution. 
 
The Chair commended the Waste and Projects Compliance Officer for the detailed report 
and thanked the team for their commitment and hard work in making improvements.  He 
encouraged the Committee to inform other Council Members of the great work being 
undertaken, as it was very important for all residents. 
 
The Committee noted the report. 
 
 
 
 Close of meeting  
 
The meeting ended at 8:43pm 
 
 

Page 8



 

Classification:  Public 

Key Decision:  No 

Gravesham Borough Council 

Report to: Operational Services Cabinet Committee 

Date: 22 March 2023 

Reporting officer: Mark Lees, Regulatory Services Manager 
 

Subject: Annual Review of the Licensing Shared Service 

Purpose and summary of report:  

To provide Members of the Operational Services Cabinet Committee with a copy of the 
annual review that has been conducted in respect of the Licensing Shared Service with 
Medway Council. 
 

Recommendations: 

1. None - this paper is for information purposes only. 

Key Implications: 

Item Implications 

Legal The shared service arrangement was established with due regard 
to the following legislation: 

1) Section 113 of the Local Government Act 1972, which allows a 
local authority to place any of its officers, who consent to the 
arrangement, at the disposal of another local authority on such 
terms as may be agreed between the parties, and 

2) Section 101(1) of the Local Government Act 1972 and the 
Local Authority (Arrangement for the Discharge of Functions) 
(England) Regulations 2012, which enables a local authority to 
delegate certain functions to another local authority.   

Finance and Value for 
Money 

An initial GBC saving of £8,580 was realised in 2019/20 when the 
shared service was established, with a further £12,540 in 2020/21 
following a restructure. Since then, there have been no significant 
financial implications, and the service continues to offer good 
value for money in its current format. 

Corporate Plan The delivery of the shared service contributes to the following 
Corporate Objectives: 

#1 People: a proud community; where residents can call a safe, 
clean and attractive borough their home. 

Page 9 Agenda Item 5



2 

#3 Progress: an entrepreneurial authority; commercial in outlook 
and committed to continuous service improvement, underpinned 
by a skilled workforce and strong governance environment. 

Climate Change  There are no specific climate change implications resulting from 
this report. 

 
1. Introduction 

1.1 Since January 2019, the council has had in place a shared service with Medway 
Council for the delivery of Licensing Services.  This involved the transfer of all 
staff who were employed within the Licensing Service at Medway Council to 
Gravesham Borough Council. 

1.2 As such, the current Licensing Services team have been operational in their 
current format for just over four years (at the time of the review). 

2. Annual Review  

2.1 As per the council’s Working in Partnership Framework (which was adopted by 
Council on 22 June 2021), the annual review of the Licensing Shared Service 
arrangement was undertaken in January/February 2023 and reported to the 
Gravesham Borough Council Management Team accordingly. 

2.2 The revised Working in Partnership Framework introduced a new review 
document for Shared Services that have been operational for three years or more, 
to ensure that focus is on current working practices and procedures rather than 
looking back at objectives that were set during the inception. 

2.3 The review of the Licensing Shared Service uses the new review template; a copy 
of the final review document is attached at appendix one for Member perusal. 

3. Appendices 

3.1 The following documents are to be published with the report:  

 Appendix one – Annual Review of the Licensing Shared Service 

4. Background Documents  

4.1 The following background documents were used:  

“Development of a shared service for the delivery of Licensing Services” – report 
to Cabinet – 25 June 2018 

 

Lead Officer:   Mark Lees, Regulatory Services Manager 

Email:    mark.lees@gravesham.gov.uk 

 
 
 
 
 

Page 10



3 

Secondary Implications  

Risk Assessment The risks associated with this arrangement are considered to be ‘low’ at this time.   

Data Protection 
Impact Assessment 

 

A data protection impact assessment (DPIA) should be carried out at the start of 
any major project involving the use of personal data or if you are making a 
significant change to an existing process.  

a. Does the project/change being recommended through this paper involve the 
processing of personal data or special category data or criminal offence data?  

A definition of each type of data can be found on the Information 
Commissioner’s Office website via the above links. 

N/A 

b. If yes to question a, have you completed and attached a DPIA including Data 
Protection Officer advice? 

N/A 

c. If no to question b, please seek advice from your nominated DPIA assessor or 
the Information Governance Team at gdpr@medway.gov.uk. 

N/A 

Equality Impact 
Assessment 

a. Does the decision being made or recommended through this paper have 
potential to cause adverse impact or discriminate against different groups in the 
community? If yes, please explain answer. 

No 

b. Does the decision being made or recommended through this paper make a 
positive contribution to promoting equality? If yes, please explain answer. 

No 

In submitting this report, the Chief Officer doing so is confirming that they have 
given due regard to the equality impacts of the decision being considered, as noted 
in the table above 

Crime and Disorder There are no specific crime and disorder implications resulting from this report. 

Digital and website 
implications 

There are no digital or website implications resulting from this report. 

Safeguarding 
children and 
vulnerable adults 

There are no safeguarding children and vulnerable adults implications resulting 
from this report. 

 

Page 11

https://ico.org.uk/for-organisations/guide-to-the-general-data-protection-regulation-gdpr/key-definitions/what-is-personal-data/
https://ico.org.uk/for-organisations/guide-to-the-general-data-protection-regulation-gdpr/lawful-basis-for-processing/special-category-data/
https://ico.org.uk/for-organisations/guide-to-the-general-data-protection-regulation-gdpr/lawful-basis-for-processing/criminal-offence-data/
mailto:gdpr@medway.gov.uk


This page is intentionally left blank



                     

 

Shared Service:    Licensing 

Shared service commenced: 01 January 2019 

Author: Mark Lees, Regulatory Services 

Manager, on behalf of: Jamie 

Izzard, Director (Communities) at 

Gravesham Borough Council and 

Bhupinder Gill, Assistant Director 

Legal & Governance at Medway 

Council 

Review Date:    March 2023 

 

Overview of the shared service arrangement: 

A summary of the structure of the shared service and the services provided.  Include any 

details of changes that have taken place with regards to the shared service in the past 12 

months. 

The Shared Licensing Service sits within Gravesham Borough Council’s Regulatory 

Services, within the Communities directorate.   

The team are responsible for discharging Gravesham Borough Council’s and Medway 

Council’s licensing functions in terms of administering and regulating the licensing regimes in 

respect of:  

 Premises/clubs selling alcohol or providing regulated entertainment or late night 

refreshment 

 Temporary Event Notices 

 Personal alcohol licences 

 Taxi and private hire drivers and vehicles, and private hire operators 

 Gambling premises and activities 

 Sex establishments 

 Scrap metal 

 Charitable collections 

 Pavement licences  

 Street Trading 

 

Page 13



 

2 | P a g e  

During the last 12 months, the vacant Licensing Assistant and Licensing Apprentice posts 

have been successful filled, providing the team with a full complement of staff for the first 

time since the commencement of the shared service. 

This has enabled progress to be made in carrying out compliance and enforcement activities 

including enhancing fee collection and associated interventions following non-payment. 

The current established structure is depicted below: 

 

 

However, a temporary change to this structure is currently in place as follows: 

 

Despite the above depicted arrangement being made in response to additional duties 

already being undertaken by two members of staff, it appears to be working to extremely 

good effect operationally, as well as providing greater career progression opportunities and 

succession planning measures.  

 

Regulatory Services 
Manager

Licensing Manager

Licensing 
Apprentice

Senior Licensing 
Officer

Licensing Officer Licensing Assistant

Senior Licensing 
Officer

Licensing Officer Licensing Assistant

Environmental 
Health Service

Regulatory 
Services Manager

Licensing Manager

Senior Licensing 
Officer

Licensing Officer

Assistant Licensing 
Manager

Licensing Officer Licensing Officer Licensing Assistant
Licensing 

Apprentice

Environmental 
Health Service

Page 14



 

3 | P a g e  

Progress against objectives: 

 Objective Update 

1 Efficiency savings. 
Realising actual 
financial savings 
across the two sites 
but maintaining 
delivery of the service. 

During 2022/23, we continued to build on our already impressive 
digital offering which now includes the online street collection 
application form for Medway (as well as Gravesham) referred to in 
the last update, featuring automated internal consultation with Town 
Centre Management, responses, and logging functions. 

A particularly notable achievement in this area has been in relation to 
the commencement and hugely successful implementation of 
Gravesham’s taxi and private hire (PH) vehicle inspections being 
carried out by Rosherville Servicing Ltd at the council’s Brookvale 
depot workshop.  To ensure a seamless transition and excellent 
user-experience, we worked closely with Digital and IT and depot 
colleagues to design and create an efficient end-to-end and 
interlinked online process, including automatic reminder texts and 
emails to licence holders, online applications with slot allocation and 
payment facilities, inspection forms that link directly to the licensing 
database, and outcome emails back to the licence holders to 
conclude the process.  This commercially innovative achievement 
has provided the Gravesham taxi and PH trade with a simple, 
reliable and quality service through a single point of contact, whilst 
helping to ensure that standards of vehicles are suitably maintained 
to promote public safety.  

In addition, we are currently working with colleagues in our IT and 
Digital Teams to create interactive online licensing registers to better 
meet customer expectations whilst also providing a self-help FOI 
portal. Efficiencies are also being sought through the creation of 
multifaceted online forms to handle Designated Premises Supervisor 
variation, transfer of owner, Minor Variation and Full Variation of 
premises applications.  Moving forwards, we still plan to provide a 
complete suite of online Licensing Act 2003 forms to pre-empt the 
eventual termination of the GOV.UK forms, and create additional 
auto-populating templates for premises licences, etc. 

The ongoing financial savings arising from the comprehensive 
restructure which took effect from April 2019 following the TUPE 
transfer of all ex-Medway employees of the licensing team in 
January remain in place.   

2 Added resilience 
across the two 
authorities. There will 
be a larger pool of 
officers covering both 
authorities providing 
additional resilience to 
cover sickness 
absence/vacancies or 
increased workload 
should this be 
required 

The original restructure retained the same number of posts as 
previously existed across the two separate teams, resulting in a 
larger, single pool of officers to provide added resilience to cover the 
work of both Licensing Authorities.   

This resilience has repeatedly proved essential in ensuring continuity 
of service during periods of staff sickness and vacant posts, and to 
cope with additional burdens - a current example being the re-rating 
of business premises in respect of non-domestic rateable values, 
which statutory annual licence fees are based on.  This has resulted 
in officers having to undertake an additional and very onerous task of 
individually checking the annual fees for all licenced premises across 
both authorities (c.1000) and updating the finance and back-office 
systems in each case to ensure correct invoicing and accurate 
maintenance of records. 

Page 15



 

4 | P a g e  

More recently and following successful appointments to the vacant 
Licensing Assistant and Apprentice posts, the structure and work of 
both the team and individual officers were evaluated.  The outcome 
was the implementation of the temporary structure shown at the 
bottom of page 2 which still retains the same number of staff as in 
the established structure, but with two members of staff undertaking 
additional duties and associated changes being made to reporting 
lines. 

Recruitment to the vacant posts coupled with the revised structure 
has enabled the team to continue to provide the largely statutory, 
and increasingly demanding, desk-based functions, as well as 
resuming previously lacking compliance and enforcement activities 
which are essential for supporting the licensing objectives across all 
regimes in order to help our local economies thrive, maintain high 
standards in accordance with local policy, and ensure public safety, 
as well as maximising income from licence fees; in just four months 
following the implementation of the revised structure and fully staffed 
team, some £27k of overdue invoices has been collected by officers 
on behalf of both councils. 

The Teams’ ability, through their hard work and dedication, to 
provide an excellent shared service demonstrates the intended 
benefits of, and continued need for, maintaining a large pool of 
officers in a suitably structured team for resilience. 

3 Availability of 
specialist skills across 
both authorities 
leading to increased 
efficiency; potential for 
a reduced 
requirement for 
external support from 
contractors etc. 

Access to a wider pool of specialists across both council’s, e.g., 
Public Health, IT, Digital, Environmental Health, Legal and Finance, 
continues to support diversification of the advice and guidance 
available to the Shared Licensing Service to inform decisions, 
facilitate change, function effectively, and expand knowledge. 

4 Sharing of best 
practice in the delivery 
of the Licensing 
Service 

(Grouped with objective 5, below) 

5 Expansion of 
knowledge base of 
individual officers 

All six front-line members of the team under the current (temporary) 
arrangement, i.e., all but the new Licensing Assistant and 
Apprentice, are highly trained, having achieved the Institute of 
Licensing accredited Professional Licensing Practitioner Qualification 
(PLPQ).  Where identified as beneficial, staff are also supported in 
undertaking additional training relevant to their roles and 
development. 

Staff continue to liaise frequently with one another, including during 
ongoing weekly team meetings where they share information and 
collectively ascertain how to deal with more complex matters as part 
of cohesive and collaborative team working. 

Their knowledge and continued approach towards embracing 
change and supporting one another, coupled with a high level of 
managerial, administrative, and technical support, has continued to 
prove invaluable in progressing the shared service to date. This is 

Page 16



 

5 | P a g e  

being seen currently, in the in-house training and development of our 
two new starters, who are progressing quickly. 

Regular attendance at the Kent and Medway Regulatory Licensing 
Steering Group and IOL Regional Training Events, etc. also supports 
this objective. 

Also see Objective 8, below. 

6 Completing the work 
required to ‘set-up’ the 
shared service, with 
full and prioritised 
support from other 
services as required. 

N/A as all set-up work is complete. 

7 Delivering an 
enhanced digital 
service, making full 
use of available 
technology. 

We continue to be highly successful and innovative in this regard. 
Updates demonstrating our ongoing efforts in relation to this are 
provided under bullet point 1, above. 

Our digital services played a key role in enabling smooth continuity 
of service throughout the pandemic and continue to assist the team 
in being able to cope with additional burdens and changes to 
licensing regimes, e.g., pavement licensing, additional taxi and 
private hire DBS checks requirements, tax code checks, changing 
right to work check requirements, revised statutory guidance 
documents, re-rating of non-domestic rateable values, and carrying 
out checks on the NR3 register (a national register that all authorities 
update and check with regard to revocations and refusals of 
licences) for every new or renewed hackney carriage and private hire 
driver licence. 

Officers are now also set up as users for Medway Employment 
Check to create and process DBS applications online, albeit the 
majority are now carried out via the DBS Update Service. 

8 Ensuring staff are 
adequately trained 
and supported. 

We have continued to support continuous professional and personal 
development through attendance of relevant (mostly virtual) training 
courses, coaching and mentoring, and experiential learning, etc. as 
referenced in Objective 5, above. 

The Licensing Manager and Acting Assistant Licensing Manager are 
booked to attend the ‘Bystander’ training arranged by the Council 
which will be disseminated to the rest of the team later in the year, 
and the Acting Licensing Officer has recently attended PACE 
interview training with the Institute of Licensing. 

All members of the team have also been working through online 
accessibility training to ensure that everything they place on our 
website is equally accessible to all service users. 

Management have continued to liaise with staff frequently and be 
available to them at all times with an open-door policy. 

9 Realising procedural 
efficiencies to enable 
staff to recommence 
more field-based 
duties. 

As had previously been anticipated, field-based duties have now 
resumed and continue to be progressed as a result of an 
appropriately resourced and structured team coupled with efficient 
procedural processes. 

 

Page 17



 

6 | P a g e  

 
 
Key Performance Measures: 
 

  Target 2021/22 & 
2022/23 to date 

Outturn 2021/22 & 
2022/23 to date 

1 No shared KPIs are in place.  Instead, 
performance is monitored through the 
reporting of separate corporate delivery 
indicators and update reports agreed with 
senior management at each council 
respectively, which have been positively 
received to date with no concerns raised. 

 

(Please see note 
to left) 

 

 (Please see note 
to left) 

 
Update against recommendations identified in previous year 
review: 
 
There were no additional recommendations following the review of the shared service in 

2021-22. 

Recommendations/Service Improvements for the coming year: 

1 Shared Service to continue 

2 - 

3 - 

 

Page 18



 

Classification: Public 

Key Decision: No 

Gravesham Borough Council 

Report to: Operational Services Cabinet Committee 

Date: 22 March 2023 (deferred from 15 September 2022) 

Reporting officer: Deborah Wilders, Environmental Protection Team Leader 

Subject: Air Quality Annual Status Report 

Purpose and summary of report:  

To present Members with the Air Quality Annual Status Report 

Recommendations: 

1. This report is for Member information only; it is recommended that Members note the 
content of the report but in particular the direct links that air quality has with climate 
change.  
 

Key Implications: 

Item Implications 

Legal The Annual Status Report (ASR) provides an overview of air 
quality in Gravesham Borough Council during 2021. It fulfils the 
requirements of Local Air Quality Management (LAQM) as set out 
in Part IV of the Environment Act (1995) and the relevant Policy 
and Technical Guidance documents.  
The LAQM process places an obligation on all local authorities to 
regularly review and assess air quality in their areas, and to 
determine whether or not the air quality objectives are likely to be 
achieved.  
Where an exceedance is considered likely the local authority must 
declare an Air Quality Management Area (AQMA) and prepare an 
Air Quality Action Plan (AQAP) setting out the measures it intends 
to put in place in pursuit of the objectives.  
This Annual Status Report (ASR) is an annual requirement 
showing the strategies employed by Gravesham Borough Council 
to improve air quality and any progress that has been made.  
The ASR reaffirms the council’s obligation to review its existing Air 
Quality Action Plans and Air Quality Strategy to bring them up to 
date, remove the actions that have been achieved or are obsolete 
and to create a new Action Plan for adoption made up of 
commitments from both the council and its partners as to how they 
will pursue an improvement in air quality in the borough and the 
measure of success.  
 

Page 19 Agenda Item 6



2 

Finance and Value for 
Money 

The minimal costs associated with the drafting of the ASR were 
accommodated within existing budgets. 

Corporate Plan The Local Air Quality Management (LAQM) Regime links directly 
to Corporate Objective #1 People, and feeds into/supports 
Corporate Objective #3 Progress 

Climate Change  In June 2019, the Council declared a climate emergency and that 
it would begin to take action to prepare for the borough to become 
carbon neutral by 2030. In working towards achieving this 
ambitious target, the council must also consider the environmental 
impacts of the emissions to air arising from local sources ie traffic, 
aggregate sites and construction sites on the health of its 
residents and visitors.  
The progress recorded in the ASR on the actions within the 
council’s two Action Plans indicates how closely linked the actions 
are to those in the Climate Change Action Plan.  
The Air Quality Annual Status Report 2022 emphasises the 
significant achievements made in the improvement of local air 
quality and highlights where progress still needs to be made.  
Lessening the impact of emissions to air on climate change will, if 
implemented with care and consideration also improve local air 
quality as they are intrinsically linked, and one must not be 
achieved at the detriment to the other.  
Delivering the actions to improve local air quality and lessen the 
impact on climate change supports the council’s Carbon Neutral 
Commitment, made following its declaration of a Climate 
Emergency.  
 

 
 

1. Background  

1.1 The council has been carrying out air quality monitoring since the early 1990s. In 
1995 the Local Air Quality Management (LAQM) Regime was introduced and 
obliged all councils to consider the largest sources of pollution in their borough. 
For Gravesham this was both the A2 Trunk Road, for nitrogen dioxide, and the 
Northfleet Industrial Area for particulate matter (PM10). Air Quality Management 
Areas (AQMAs) were declared for both and following the drafting of the council’s 
first Air Quality Action Plan work began to reduce the impact of these two major 
sources on the residents of the borough.  

1.2 This was followed by all councils being obliged to consider the other sources of air 
pollution in the borough e.g. junctions and busy lengths of road in the local traffic 
network. Five new AQMAs were declared the most notable of which is the A226 
One Way System Gravesend AQMA. The council’s second Air Quality Action Plan 
was drafted, and work began on improving the air quality in these areas.  

2. The Annual Status Report (ASR) 

2.1 The drafting and submission of annual progress or status reports to Defra are 
mandatory for all councils with declared Air Quality Management Areas.  

2.2 The ASR includes an executive summary of the main report, including the 
conclusions and recommendations.  

2.3 The main body of the report provides information on how many AQMAs are 
declared (section 2.1, table 2.1), what monitoring is being undertaken (section 

Page 20



3 

3.1), and provides both the results and comment on the monitoring for the last 
calendar year and also a summary of the previous 4 years to that (section 3.2). 

2.4 There are two types of monitoring carried out by Gravesham in the borough: 

2.4.1 Continuous monitoring of nitrogen dioxide and particulate matter (PM10) 
by air quality analysers at the council’s two air stations located within or 
close to the A2 Trunk Road AQMA and the Northfleet Industrial Area 
AQMA.  

2.4.2 Passive diffusion tubes for monitoring nitrogen dioxide located in areas 
with heavy traffic flows, areas with background levels of pollutants and 
also in areas where development will or is very likely to happen or is 
happening. The latter is to ascertain the baseline in the area to ensure it is 
apparent what impact new developments are having on the local air 
quality.  

2.5 The annual report also includes the progress made on the actions within the 
council’s two action plans. (Table 2.2.)  

2.6 The appendices include maps of the four current AQMAs. 

3. The Impact of Poor Air Quality on Health 

3.1 Air pollution is associated with a number of adverse health impacts. It is 
recognised as a contributing factor in the onset of heart disease and cancer. 
Additionally, air pollution particularly affects the most vulnerable in society: 
children, the elderly, and those with existing heart and lung conditions. 

3.2 Poor air quality is the largest environmental risk to public health in the UK, as 
long-term exposure to air pollution can cause chronic conditions such as 
cardiovascular and respiratory diseases as well as lung cancer, leading to 
reduced life expectancy. Health matters: air pollution - GOV.UK (www.gov.uk) 

3.3 Defra’s “Air quality appraisal damage cost guidance July 2021” advises that the 
mortality burden of air pollution within the UK is equivalent to 28,000 to 36,000 
deaths at typical ages with the total estimated healthcare cost to the NHS and 
social care of £157 million in 2017 according to Public Health England’s 
“Estimation of costs to the NHS and social care due to the health impacts of air 
pollution - summary report May 2018”.     

4. Air Quality in Gravesham 

4.1 During 2021, all passive monitoring locations except five were compliant with the 
NO2 AQS objective; thirty-seven sites reported increases from 2020, with the 
remaining twenty-four sites reporting decreases.  

4.2 It is likely that the reduced traffic volumes in 2020 during the pandemic has 
influenced what now appears to be the increase in concentrations at 56% of 
passive monitoring locations in 2021.  

4.3 The five that demonstrated not to be compliant were within the A226 One-way 
System. Four of these were not exceeding during 2020 and the levels monitored 
in 2021 were representative of pre-pandemic levels.  

4.4 Both continuous automatic analysers for nitrogen dioxide and the analysers 
monitoring particulate (PM10) demonstrate long term compliance with the air 
quality standards objectives. 

Page 21

https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/health-matters-air-pollution/health-matters-air-pollution
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/assess-the-impact-of-air-quality/air-quality-appraisal-damage-cost-guidance
https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/708855/Estimation_of_costs_to_the_NHS_and_social_care_due_to_the_health_impacts_of_air_pollution_-_summary_report.pdf
https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/708855/Estimation_of_costs_to_the_NHS_and_social_care_due_to_the_health_impacts_of_air_pollution_-_summary_report.pdf


4 

5. Going Forwards 

5.1 The council will continue to use their passive monitoring network to determine 
whether AQMAs need amending or whether there are any new identifiable areas 
of concern. Gravesham Borough Council are focused on reducing annual mean 
NO2 exceedances of the national objective. These locations are situated in the 
one-way system in Gravesend.  

5.2 The council will continue to work with its partners to improve air quality: 

5.2.1 The National Highways (NH) has responsibility for the management of the 
A2 Trunk Road and as such is responsible for any direct actions proposed 
for the AQMA along the A2 Trunk Road in Gravesham.  

5.2.2 Kent County Council (KCC), as the local transport authority, is responsible 
for the management of the local road network and as such is responsible 
for any direct actions proposed for the AQMAs in the town centre in order 
to reduce road traffic emissions. Gravesham Borough Council works 
together with Kent County Highways to improve air quality within these 
AQMAs and throughout the Borough. 

5.3 The review of the declared AQMAs will be completed utilising a detailed modelling 
assessment to ascertain whether any significant improvements to pollution levels 
have been made to allow for boundary adjustment or removal. The outcomes of 
the detailed assessment will inform an update to the now outdated existing 
AQAPs which were published in 2004 and 2006. 

5.4 The council will revoke the AQMA declarations for nitrogen dioxide when possible, 
following a suitable sustained reduction in levels; however the declaration for the 
Northfleet Industrial Area AQMA for windblown particulate matter (PM10) will be 
kept in place in order to ensure PM10 concentrations are continually monitored.  

5.5 It will ensure through the utilisation of the planning process that measures are 
implemented and maintained to ensure that the construction phases of the 
significant level of mixed-use development in the North Industrial Area AQMA, 
which is planned to take place over at least the next decade, does not cause an 
increase in PM10 levels.   

5.6 The declaration of the existing AQMAs and the adoption of Action Plans and 
Strategies continue to enable the Council to make progress on improving air 
quality within the Borough, for residents and visitors. This has been achieved by 
working with partners, including Kent County Council, Kent County Highways, 
National Highways Agency, and the Environment Agency.   

6. Conclusion and Priorities 

6.1 The existing AQAPs were published in 2004 and 2006 with most of the measures 
having been significantly progressed or completed and are therefore considered 
out-of-date.  

6.2 Whilst there has been significant progress with the measures in the existing action 
plans, leading to the revocation of three of the seven AQMAs in the borough, 
major additional work that needs to be undertaken includes:  

6.2.1 The development of a new AQAP that incorporates all AQMAs into one 
AQAP; and  

6.2.2 The implementation of the Climate Change Management Plan (CCMP)  

Page 22



5 

6.3 It is the intention of the Council to review and update the existing AQMAs using 
the most up-to-date information and analysis and to present a combined AQAP to 
cover all of the declared AQMAs.  

6.4 The council is focused on reducing annual mean NO2 concentrations via the 
implementation of currently identified measures, but to also through development 
of new measures as part of the AQAP update. Priorities for the next reporting year 
are:  

6.4.1 To complete and implement the new AQAP   

6.4.2 To implement and continue to progress the Climate Change Management 
Plan. 

6.4.3 Continue working with partners in the Kent and Medway Air Quality 
Partnership (K&MAQP) to improve air quality throughout the area 

7. Appendices 

7.1 The following document is relevant to the report:  

7.1.1 Appendix 1 – GBC Air Quality Annual Status Report 2022 

8. Background Documents  

8.1 There are no background documents. 

Lead Officer:  Deborah Wilders, Environmental Protection Team Leader 

Email:  Deborah.wilders@gravesham.gov.uk 

 
  

Page 23

https://kentair.org.uk/report/gravesham-borough-council-annual-status-report-2022


6 

Secondary Implications  

Risk Assessment Failure to deliver the Annual Status Report (ASR) to Defra each year and failure to 
demonstrate within the ASR that the council is implementing the actions within the 
Air Quality Action Plans, will invoke action from Defra to ensure that the council is 
taking its obligation to comply with the requirements of the Local Air Quality 
Management (LAQM) Regime.  

Data Protection 
Impact Assessment 

 

A data protection impact assessment (DPIA) should be carried out at the start of 
any major project involving the use of personal data or if you are making a 
significant change to an existing process.  

a. Does the project/change being recommended through this paper involve the 
processing of personal data or special category data or criminal offence data?  

A definition of each type of data can be found on the Information 
Commissioner’s Office website via the above links. 

No 

b. If yes to question a, have you completed and attached a DPIA including Data 
Protection Officer advice? 

N/A 

c. If no to question b, please seek advice from your nominated DPIA assessor or 
the Information Governance Team at gdpr@medway.gov.uk. 

No personal data is handled when carrying out the ASR work.  

Equality Impact 
Assessment 

a. Does the decision being made or recommended through this paper have 
potential to cause adverse impact or discriminate against different groups in the 
community? If yes, please explain answer. 

No - The Environment Act 1995 and the Local Air Quality Management Regime 
are fully inclusive and affect all people equally.   

b. Does the decision being made or recommended through this paper make a 
positive contribution to promoting equality? If yes, please explain answer. 

N/A 

In submitting this report, the Chief Officer doing so is confirming that they have 
given due regard to the equality impacts of the decision being considered, as noted 
in the table above 

Crime and Disorder The improvement in air quality improves feelings that the environment is clean and 
safe. 

Digital and website 
implications 

The website will be updated as necessary.   

Safeguarding 
children and 
vulnerable adults 

No direct implications.  

 

Page 24

https://ico.org.uk/for-organisations/guide-to-the-general-data-protection-regulation-gdpr/key-definitions/what-is-personal-data/
https://ico.org.uk/for-organisations/guide-to-the-general-data-protection-regulation-gdpr/lawful-basis-for-processing/special-category-data/
https://ico.org.uk/for-organisations/guide-to-the-general-data-protection-regulation-gdpr/lawful-basis-for-processing/criminal-offence-data/
mailto:gdpr@medway.gov.uk


 

Classification: Public 

Key Decision: No 

Gravesham Borough Council 

Report to: Operational Services Committee 

Date: 22 March 2023 

Reporting officer: Stuart Alford - Assistant Director (Operations) 
Mark Lees - Regulatory Services Manager 
 

Subject: Corporate Performance Update: Quarter Three 2022-23 

Purpose and summary of report:  

To present Members of the Operational Services Committee with an update against the 
Performance Management Framework, as introduced within the council’s Corporate Plan, for 
Quarter Three 2022-23 (October to December 2022). 
 

Recommendations: 

1. This report is for information purposes only.  

Key Implications: 

Item Implications 

Legal The council’s Corporate Plan is an integral part of the authority’s 
policy framework as defined by the Constitution. The new Plan will 
ensure the council has in place an effective framework to deliver 
its responsibilities and ensure better results for vulnerable local 
residents, with the assistance of relevant partner agencies. 
 

Finance and Value for 
Money 

There are no significant costs associated with the monitoring of 
the Corporate Plan from which council activities should be based 
and which therefore should be accounted for as part of on-going 
financial planning processes. 
 

Corporate Plan The council’s adopted Corporate Plan sets the strategic ambition 
and objectives for the authority over the 2019-23 period. This 
report provides the Committee with a quarterly assessment of how 
the council is delivering against its objectives through its 
Performance Management Framework. 
 

Climate Change Climate change as a strategic theme underpins the projects, 
initiatives and work involved in the delivery of the council's 
Corporate Plan. As a core policy commitment of the council, 
efforts in this area are represented within corporate objective #1: 
People. 
 

Page 25 Agenda Item 7



2 

 
1. Introduction 

1.1 In October 2019 the council formally adopted its Corporate Plan for 2019-23. The 
plan sets out the authority’s ambition for the borough, complete with a suite of 
corporate objectives and supporting policy commitments that will shape the 
council’s activities over the four-year period.   

1.2 In order to evaluate if the council is effectively achieving against its stated policy 
commitments, and is ultimately delivering consistently high-quality services, a 
sound performance management process is required to be implemented.  

1.3 Developed by senior council officers and Cabinet portfolio holders, the council’s 
Corporate Plan presents a Performance Management Framework (PMF) that 
forms the basis of reporting corporate performance to Members and residents.  

2. Performance management: process 

2.1 The effective management of the council relies upon good quality and timely 
performance information on which to base informed executive decisions.  

2.2 Appendix 1 to this report provides Members of the Operational Services 
Committee with an overview of the council’s performance against the Corporate 
Plan for Quarter Three 2022-23, covering the period October to December 2022.  

2.3 Statistical performance over the period is presented separately in tabular and 
graphical form for all indicators. Where any data is not presented, this will relate 
either to those indicators reported on an annual basis or, alternatively, where data 
has not been submitted in time for the presentation of the report. Any outturns 
where data has been unable to be reported will be presented within the next 
appropriate reporting cycle.  

2.4 Alongside statistical content, the Appendix provides supporting detailed qualitative 
updates outlining what activity the council has delivered, and what is to be taken, 
to successfully realise the Corporate Plan’s objectives and policy commitments 
relating to the portfolio for the 2019-23 period.    

2.5 This report is for information purposes only. 
 

3. Appendices 

3.1 The following documents are to be published with the report:  

Appendix 1: Operational Services Portfolio – Q3 2022-23 
 

4. Background papers 

 Gravesham Borough Council: Corporate Plan 2019-23.  

 Gravesham Borough Council: PMF 2019-23. 

 
Lead Officer:  

 
Stuart Alford - Assistant Director (Operations) 

Email:  stuart.alford@gravesham.gov.uk 

Page 26

https://www.gravesham.gov.uk/corporateplan
https://www.gravesham.gov.uk/performance


3 

Secondary Implications  

Risk Assessment Implementation of a PMF allows the council to evidence how successful it is in 
achieving against its stated objectives and provides residents accountability in how 
it is administering its resources. 

Data Protection 
Impact Assessment 

 

A data protection impact assessment (DPIA) should be carried out at the start of 
any major project involving the use of personal data or if you are making a 
significant change to an existing process.  

a. Does the project/change being recommended through this paper involve the 
processing of personal data or special category data or criminal offence data?  

A definition of each type of data can be found on the Information 
Commissioner’s Office website via the above links. 

No. 

b. If yes to question a, have you completed and attached a DPIA including Data 
Protection Officer advice? 

Click here to start typing 

c. If no to question b, please seek advice from your nominated DPIA assessor or 
the Information Governance Team at gdpr@medway.gov.uk. 

Click here to start typing 

Equality Impact 
Assessment 

a. Does the decision being made or recommended through this paper have 
potential to cause adverse impact or discriminate against different groups in the 
community? If yes, please explain answer. 

No. 

b. Does the decision being made or recommended through this paper make a 
positive contribution to promoting equality? If yes, please explain answer. 

No. 

In submitting this report, the Chief Officer doing so is confirming that they have 
given due regard to the equality impacts of the decision being considered, as noted 
in the table above 

Crime and Disorder Community safety is an integral theme of the Corporate Plan and work by the 
council in this area, alongside its key partners, will go towards delivering corporate 
objective #1: People. 

Digital and website 
implications 

In terms of the council's performance management framework, digital implications 
are represented and assessed through the outturns relating to  'PI 51: online self-
help forms'. 

Safeguarding 
children and 
vulnerable adults 

The council's work in safeguarding children and vulnerable adults helps contribute 
towards delivering corporate objectives #1: People and #2: Place.  

 

Page 27

https://ico.org.uk/for-organisations/guide-to-the-general-data-protection-regulation-gdpr/key-definitions/what-is-personal-data/
https://ico.org.uk/for-organisations/guide-to-the-general-data-protection-regulation-gdpr/lawful-basis-for-processing/special-category-data/
https://ico.org.uk/for-organisations/guide-to-the-general-data-protection-regulation-gdpr/lawful-basis-for-processing/criminal-offence-data/
mailto:gdpr@medway.gov.uk


This page is intentionally left blank



Gravesham Borough Council - Corporate Plan 2019-23 00Delivering a Gravesham to be proud of

O P E R A T I O N A L     S E R V I C E S
P O R T F O L I O

Performance   report 
Q  3  :  2  0  2  2  -  2  3

Delivering a Gravesham to be proud of

P
age 29



P I  3

Q1 Q2 Q3 Q4

2019-20 11 3 4 5

2020-21 6 6 4 12

2021-22 8 4 6 1

2022-23 2 4 8

P I  4

Q1 Q2 Q3 Q4

2019-20 93.0% 93.1% 94.2% 93.8%

2020-21 89.0% 87.7% 86.4% 84.0%

2021-22 83.2% 91.1% 93.7% 91.8%

2022-23 93.6% 95.1% 95.7%

P O L I C Y   C O M M I T M E N T 
1. Enforce high regulatory standards: put customer and employee safety first by ensuring 
commercial businesses and licence holders are fully compliant with expected legislative 
standards.

#1 PEOPLE 
a proud community; where residents can call a safe, clean 

and attractive borough their home.

Total number of reported Health & Safety incidents

% of compliant food establishments

Environmental Health (Commercial Team):  All outstanding inspections from 2021-22 have now been 
completed and, having now completed 74.7% of the scheduled medium and high-risk premises inspections in 
Q3, the team are on target to complete 100% of inspections due in 2022-23 by year-end.  In addition, officers 
have been concentrating on inspecting all newly registered food businesses in accordance with the Food 
Standards Agency (post-Covid) recovery plan.  84 out of 106 new business have been inspected so far, 
however the number of new businesses changes on a regular basis as some close soon after 
registering/commencing trading and before they are inspected, or don’t start trading at all.  

Whilst the overall percentage of compliant food businesses has increased slightly again this quarter, this is 
again primarily due to the previously unrated premises inspections being carried out but nevertheless 
excellent news in demonstrating the high level of compliance across our food businesses.

All Improvement Notices served in Q2 as reported last quarter have now been complied with; demonstrating 
the benefits of effective regulation. A further two Improvement Notices were served on a butchers in relation 
to the lack of an adequate written food safety management system, and the other in relation to the floor 
surface.

In other areas of work, a steady stream of applications for skin piercing registrations for new businesses have 
continued to come in; anyone undertaking certain skin piercing treatments are required to register with the 
local authority under Byelaws adopted under the Local Government Miscellaneous Provisions Act 1982. 
These treatments include Tattooing, Semi-permanent make-up, Cosmetic Piercing, Acupuncture and 
Electrolysis.

The total number of reported H&S accidents indicator is dependent upon business compliance with formally 
reporting accidents to the HSE and therefore, whilst not reflective of officer performance, does serve to give 
some indication as to how safe premises are, albeit some accidents are purely that and not the result of poor 
H&S standards.  The eight accidents recorded in Q3, whilst twice as many as in Q2, still represents a very low 
and therefore positive number.  Internally, good progress in being made to digitise elements of the corporate 
H&S service in order to make handling of such matters significantly more efficient for the benefit of our EHOs 
and the health, safety and wellbeing of our workforce.

Licensing:  Recruitment to vacant Licensing Assistant and Licensing Apprentices posts advertised in Q2, were 
both successfully filled in Q3.  Our new colleagues have settled in quickly and are doing an excellent job. As 
hoped, this important additional resource has enabled officers to undertake additional compliance and 
enforcement work, initially focussing on collection of any overdue annual licence fees for premises however a 
compliance and enforcement schedule is currently being developed to focus resources and operations during 
the rest of the year.

0

5

10

15

Q1 Q2 Q3 Q4

2019-20

2020-21

2021-22

2022-23

70%

80%

90%

100%

Q1 Q2 Q3 Q4

2019-20

2020-21

2021-22

2022-23

P
age 30



P I  5

Q1 Q2 Q3 Q4

2019-20 95.0% 98.0% 98.0% 99.0%

2020-21 99.8% 99.0% 97.0% 98.0%

2021-22 97.7% 98.2% 99.0% 99.6%

2022-23 98.7% 96.8% 98.4%

P O L I C Y   C O M M I T M E N T 

#1 PEOPLE 
a proud community; where residents can call a safe, clean 

and attractive borough their home.

Environmental Protection update - Mark Lees

2. Improve the local environment: deliver projects and initiatives to further increase levels of 
household recycling and actively address contaminated land and noise, flood and oil pollution in 
the borough.

During Q3, 314 service requests, mostly relating to nuisance complaints, were received by the Environmental 
Protection (EP) Team, whilst the Commercial Team handled a further 80 in addition to carrying out their 
routine food safety and H&S work. A first response was received in 98.4% of cases.  The work of both teams 
is currently being supported by external contractors temporarily filling vacancies in both teams.

The EP Team have been piloting a mobile App to assist in nuisance investigations and modernise the service.  
The ASB App is an all-round tool that allows service users to record, monitor and report noise and other forms 
of anti-social behaviour using a single, simple to use, mobile app.  The evidence submitted is then received by 
officers in near real-time in an easy to access, chronological time and date-stamped list on an associated web-
based customer relationship management (‘CRM’) system.  Using this alongside the more traditional methods, 
e.g. written diary sheets, has been well-received and is a further step forwards in our efforts to provide an 
excellent modern service fit for the 21st century.

The Environmental Protection Team is also a key consultee on relevant planning and licensing applications.  
Bespoke automated processes designed and built in-house ensure that all such consultations are now 
automatically logged on the Environmental Health systems to make processing and responding to them more 
consistent and streamlined which, in turn, will assist Planners and Licensing Officers to progress their 
casework in a timely manner.   The handling of such applications is however a very time-consuming take and 
further progress is therefore needed in these areas in order for the small environmental health teams to be 
able to continue to handle their sustained significant workloads.

In Q3, EP officers were consulted on a further 46 planning applications and Commercial on just 9, with 89% 
receiving a response within 21 days.  The EP Team were also consulted on some 49 Temporary Event 
Notices yet responded within the 3-day consultation period in 100% of cases.  

% of environmental health service requests receiving a first response within five 
working days 

85%

90%

95%

100%

Q1 Q2 Q3 Q4

2019-20

2020-21

2021-22

2022-23

P
age 31



P I  9

Q1 Q2 Q3 Q4

2019-20 108.0 212.7 320.0 427.6

2020-21 125.1 240.0 353.0 477.0

2021-22 124.4 243.5 374.5 487.9

2022-23 120.7 237.6 348.3

P I  8 P I   10

Q1 Q2 Q3 Q4 Q1 Q2 Q3 Q4

2019-20 44.3% 44.2% 43.0% 42.6% 2019-20 1.9%

2020-21 45.7% 45.3% 44.5% 43.6% 2020-21 1.4%

2021-22 44.3% 44.8% 43.3% 42.4% 2021-22 1.8%

2022-23 44.1% 42.5% 42.4% 2022-23

3. Improve the local environment: deliver projects and initiatives to further increase levels of household 
recycling and actively address contaminated land and noise, flood and oil pollution in the borough.

P O L I C Y   C O M M I T M E N T 
a proud community; where residents can call a safe, clean 

and attractive borough their home.

#1 PEOPLE 

Annual indicator 

% of household waste recycled

Total volume of residual waste per household (kg)

% of household waste sent to landfill

Waste & Recycling update - Stuart Alford 
In Q3, 90% of households received their scheduled refuse & recycling collection.  Due to the adverse 
weather, some properties were not accessible, however extra collections were carried out to catch-up on 
these properties before Christmas.

The council was shortlisted for two awards in the ‘Local Authority Success’ Category at the National 
Recycling Awards 2022: Tackling Rising Contamination & Delivering Flats Recycling. The nominations 
show the originality and success of our campaigns, and demonstrate that the Waste Management Teams’ 
projects have been recognised at a national level within the sector.

The phased approach to the introduction and enhancement of recycling provision at flats has continued. 
Since August 2021, 664 more flats in 44 blocks have dry mixed collections and 684 more flats have food 
waste collections. Overall, 56.5% of flats now have recycling collections.

Officers have also developed a ‘Flats Waste Storage Best Practice Guide’ in the appendix of the guidance 
to suggest appropriate bin store layouts and to make developers aware of the bin stickers and leaflets that 
we are able to offer to assist residents in using the bins and bin stores correctly.

Our excess waste campaign has been running since March 2022.  Since the beginning of the excess 
refuse campaign, there has been a 94.8% reduction in the number of instances of excess black sack 
waste presented by residents.  At the same time, the number of fly-tipping reports between March and 
December 2022 reduced by 137 compared to the same period in 2021, a reduction of 7.1%. 

Between March and November 2022, 171 fewer tonnes of refuse were collected compared to the same 
period in 2021, a reduction of 1.3%. This equates to a reduction of 18.2kg per household (5%).

Additional recycling ‘on-the-go’ bins were recently installed at the Cascades Leisure Centre field.  The 
street litter recycling project, comprising of recycling ‘on-the-go’ bins & Street Champion segregated litter, 
has yielded 7.9 tonnes of recycling to date.  

40%

42%

44%

46%

Q1 Q2 Q3 Q4

2019-20

2020-21

2021-22

2022-23

0

200

400

600

Q1 Q2 Q3 Q4

2019-20

2020-21

2021-22

2022-23

0%

2%

4%

6%

2019-20 2020-21 2021-22

P
age 32



P I  11

Q1 Q2 Q3 Q4

2019-20 2.0 2.1

2020-21 1.2 1.2 2.4 2.4

2021-22 2.6 2.7 2.4 2.2

2022-23 1.9 1.9 1.9

P I  12

Q1 Q2 Q3 Q4

2019-20 5.0% 5.0% 5.0% 5.0%

2020-21 N/A 4.0% 4.0% 4.0%

2021-22 5.6% 5.3% 5.2% 5.0%

2022-23 4.4% 3.8% 4.0%

#1 PEOPLE 

Average time taken to remove graffiti identified as GBC responsibility (days)
4. Create clean, welcoming neighbourhoods and parks, and an attractive town centre: a 
comprehensive programme of street cleansing and high standard of horticultural maintenance. 

N/A

The Street Champions continue to demonstrate the level of civic pride across the borough and are 
a testament to all those who take pride in their local area.  Currently, there are 470 volunteers who 
have pledged to adopt 314 streets, pathways, alleyways and open spaces.

Since 1st April 2022 Gravesham’s Street Champions collected 2,742 sacks of litter during 1,715 
litter picks.  

The rear access way project has continued in Q3.  To date, 13 access ways in Central, 
Coldharbour, Northfleet North, Northfleet South, Riverside, Singlewell, Westcourt & Whitehill 
wards have been cleared.  

The bid for grant funding remove historic gum litter stains at 22 shopping parades and five 
locations within Gravesend town centre has been completed and signage has been erected to 
encourage people to dispose of gum responsibly.  As part of the funding, these sites will continue 
be monitored over the next 12 months.

During the adverse weather, the Street Cleansing Team was re-allocated to carry out gritting of 
the town centre, car parks and local shopping parades.

The Waste Projects & Compliance Officer continues to attend regular briefing meetings with the 
Environmental Enforcement Team, Community Safety Unit and Housing Team to foster greater 
departmental collaboration. The meetings enable the respective teams to discuss ‘hot spot’ areas 
and enable joint project areas to be identified and targeted jointly. 

a proud community; where residents can call a safe, clean
 and attractive borough their home.P O L I C Y   C O M M I T M E N T 

% of areas with unacceptable levels of littering

0

1

2

3

Q1 Q2 Q3 Q4

2019-20

2020-21

2021-22

2022-23

0%

2%

4%

6%

Q1 Q2 Q3 Q4

2019-20

2020-21

2021-22

2022-23

P
age 33



P I   39

Q1 Q2 Q3 Q4

2019-20 100%

2020-21 100%

2021-22 100%

2022-23

#2 PLACE 

Annual indicator

P O L I C Y   C O M M I T M E N T 
1. Improve resident well-being: provide and preserve a suite of high quality play areas and 
promote opportunities for active lives.
Quarter 3 saw the continuation of the council’s effort to make significant and essential 
improvements to several play parks that had scored poorly against play-value for young persons 
around Gravesham and surrounding parish land.

During this period, we proudly invited The Mayor of Gravesham, Cllr Peter Scollard and 
associated ward councillors to open the finished play parks at Istead Rise and Luddesdown, 
which have been extremely popular since their completion and appreciated by many families and 
young children, especially those who live and travel to Istead to use the community centre and 
asasociated amenities.

“I have been coming to Istead for a few years and the old park was rotten and wasn’t inviting. It 
now is a beautiful playground for lots of children to enjoy. My children (5 and 9 years old) always 
make a beeline for the park every week when we come to dance club, and it doesn’t matter 
whether it is raining of cold it always puts a smile on their face.” – Mrs J. Harley

It as a successful scheme that worked because GBC listened to the Istead Community Group, 
who acted as the voice of the local people, and together the project was steered to offer the 
greatest return in long lasting play-value.

The other park that was completed during this quarter was part of an ongoing improvement 
strategy at Wallis Park, which say a new multi play that offers sensory play, play at height, 
climbing features and slide, as well as a swings for all ages, with a toddler, flat and basket swing 
for group fun.

% of council play sites annually inspected

a dynamic borough; defined by a vibrant and productive local economy taking 
advantage of growth in the area, supported by its strong and active community.

40%

60%

80%

100%

2019-20 2020-21 2021-22

P
age 34


	Agenda
	2 Minutes
	5 Annual Review of the Licensing Shared Service
	Appendix 1 - Licensing Shared Service Annual Review

	6 Air Quality Annual Status Report
	7 Corporate Performance Update: Quarter Three 2022-23
	2. Operational Services Portfolio - Q3 2022-23 (Appendix 1)
	Q3 2022-23
	Operational Services Portfolio - Q3 2022-23 (Appendix 1).pdf
	Q3 2022-23
	Performance & Admin Portfolio - Q2 2022-23 (Appendix 1).pdf
	Q2 2022-23
	Performance & Admin Portfolio - Q2 2022-23.pdf
	Q2 2022-23
	Operational Services Portfolio - Q1 2022-23 (Appendix 1).pdf
	Q1 2022-23
	Operational Services Portfolio - Q1 2022-23.pdf
	Q1 2022-23
	Operational Services Portfolio - Q4 2021-22 (APPENDIX 1).pdf
	Q4 2021-22
	Operational Services Portfolio - Q4 2021-22 (DRAFT).pdf
	Q4 2021-22
	Operational Services Portfolio - Q3 2021-22 (FINAL).pdf
	Q3 2021-22





	Performance & Admin Portfolio - Q1 2022-23 (Appendix 1).pdf
	Q1 2022-23
	Performance & Admin Portfolio - Q1 2022-23.pdf
	Q1 2022-23
	Performance & Admin Portfolio - Q4 2021-22 (Appendix 1).pdf
	Q4 2021-22
	Performance & Admin Portfolio - Q4 2021-22 (DRAFT).pdf
	Q4 2021-22
	Operational Services Portfolio - Q3 2021-22 (FINAL).pdf
	Q3 2021-22







	Operational Services Portfolio - Q2 2022-23 (Appendix 1).pdf
	Q2 2022-23
	Operational Services Portfolio - Q1 2022-23 (Appendix 1).pdf
	Q1 2022-23
	Operational Services Portfolio - Q1 2022-23.pdf
	Q1 2022-23
	Operational Services Portfolio - Q4 2021-22 (APPENDIX 1).pdf
	Q4 2021-22
	Operational Services Portfolio - Q4 2021-22 (DRAFT).pdf
	Q4 2021-22
	Operational Services Portfolio - Q3 2021-22 (FINAL).pdf
	Q3 2021-22












